

## **Original Research Article**

# **Correlation and Path Coefficient Analysis Studies on Grain Yield and Its Contributing Characters in ~~17~~Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Varieties**

### **ABSTRACT**

~~In crop breeding, the selection for yield is made complex because of the quantitative and polygenic nature of the character. This study was undertaken to assess character association and show the contribution of various yield-contributing characters in 17Seventeen maize varieties were planted in a randomized complete block design with three replications in a humid environment of Port Harcourt, Nigeria in 2018 under rainfed condition. through the help of correlation and path coefficient analyses in order to identify appropriate plant characters for selection to improve maize grain yield. The experimental materials were planted in a humid environment of Port Harcourt, Nigeria in 2018 under rainfed condition. The experiment was laid in a randomized complete block design with three replications. Five random plants per plot per replication were selected and tagged from which observations Data were recorded on for days to 50% anthesis, days to 50% silking, anthesis-silking interval, plant height (cm) and ear height (cm). While number of plants per plot, number of plants harvested, number of ears harvested, moisture content (%), field weight (kg), and grain yield ( $t\ ha^{-1}$ ) were recorded on per plot basis. Results showed number of plants per plot, number of plants harvested, number of ears harvested and field weight correlated positively and significantly both phenotypically and genotypically with grain yield. Path coefficient analysis at the genotypic level also revealed field weight and days to 50% anthesis as the characters exerting the highest positive direct effect on grain yield. Therefore, maize grain yield could be improved through indirect selection for these characters.~~

**Keywords:** ~~Maize, Character association, crop breeding, grain yield, path coefficient analysis, selection.~~

### **INTRODUCTION**

World over, the importance of maize (*Zea mays* L.) cannot be overemphasized. Its adaptability is quite remarkable and admirable; it thrives well in several diverse environments. The numerous forms of its use has made it a prominent crop, especially among cereals. In Nigeria, maize is grown majorly for its grain. However, production in terms of grain yield is still very ~~much on the down side relative to what is obtained in~~ low as compared to developed countries (FAOSTAT, 2018). Hence, there is need to improve maize grain yield principally through crop breeding to meet its ever rising demand.

~~In crop breeding, numerous statistical models including those that help evaluate adaptability and stability of genotypes by splitting genotype by environment interaction into environmental and genetic~~

~~components and those that help identify promising genotypes in breeding programs—mixed models with fixed and random variance components have been used effectively (Olivoto *et al.*, 2016; Baretta *et al.*, 2016). In like manner,~~ Correlation analysis has been to a great extent used in determining the level of linear association between and among characters, i.e. it helps show the degree to which characters differ. It is an important tool for effective selection, because response to selection depends on many factors including the interrelationship of characters. Correlation studies according to Hallauer (2007) is helpful if indirect selection gives a greater response to selection for a desirable character than direct selection for the same, particularly when the character exhibits low heritability. Despite ~~being~~ helpful in revealing the direction and degree of linear association between a pair of characters, correlation analysis lacks the ability to uncover the relative importance of each character in terms of cause and effect. Hence, 'path analysis' was proposed to understand the interrelationships of cause and effect of each character (Wright, 1921).

Path coefficient analysis gives more information among variables as it partitions correlation coefficients into direct and indirect effect and causes of association (Dewey and Lu, 1959; Jakhar *et al.*, 2017). This approach is commonly used in crop breeding and has been efficacious in revealing the interrelationships between characters, either yielding, grain quality or the effects of interaction of genotype by environment or management of cultivation (Jadhav *et al.*, 2014; Adesoji *et al.*, 2015; Ma *et al.*, 2015; Nardino *et al.*, 2016). The result helps to formulate selection criteria based on the direct and indirect effects. For example, selection aimed at improving a certain desirable character which is difficult to measure (such as yield) with low heritability, can be indirectly carried out by selecting another character (which is easier to measure and has high heritability) which is directly associated with the desirable character (Ojo *et al.*, 2006). Hence, this study was undertaken to access the interrelationship between and among characters and show the contribution of various yield contributing characters in 17 maize varieties through the help of correlation and path coefficient analyses in order to identify appropriate plant characters for selection to improve maize grain yield.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

~~The experimental material consisted of 17Seventeen~~ maize varieties (what is the material? variety or advance lines give the pedigree in the table and other information of the material) (Table 1) ~~which~~ were planted in a randomized complete block design in three replications during the rainy season of 2018. ~~These experimental materials were tested in a field experiment carried out~~ at the Rivers State University's Teaching and Research Farm, Nkpolu, Port Harcourt. ~~They were laid in a randomized complete block design and replicated three times. For each variety 2 seeds per hill were sown in row to row and planr to plant spacing of The 75 by and 25 cm, plantingrespectively -space was adopted as each variety was sown 2 seeds per hill on 2-rows~~ of 5 m long ridge. All necessary agronomic practices ~~such as fertilizer application and weeding~~ were done-followed as per the recommendations of the Institute of Agricultural Research and Training (IAR&T) guide (IAR&T, 2010). In each plot ~~F~~five random plants ~~per plot per replication~~ were selected and ~~tagged from which~~ observations were recorded on days to 50% anthesis, days to 50% silking, anthesis-silking interval, plant height (cm) and ear height (cm); while number of plants per plot, number of plants harvested, number of ears

harvested, moisture content (%), field weight (kg), and grain yield ( $t\ ha^{-1}$ ) were recorded on per-plot basis. ~~The standardized character mean values of the three replications were pooled and used for correlation and path coefficient analyses.~~ Correlation analysis was done using PTools version 1.3 statistical package, while path coefficient analysis was achieved by the R software version 3.3.3 with the help of the Agricolae package (R Development Core Team 2014). [Check this in the reference.](#)

**Table 1: List of the Experimental Materials**

S/N	Variety
1.	AFLATOXIN SYN 3-W
2.	DT SYN 15-W
3.	IWD C3 SYN
4.	LOCAL CHECK 1
5.	LOCAL CHECK 2
6.	PVASYN-2
7.	PVASYN-5
8.	PVASYN-7
9.	PVASYN-8
10.	PVASYN-9
11.	PVASYN-10
12.	PVASYN-13
13.	PVASYN-21
14.	PVASYN-22
15.	STR SYN 2-Y
16.	TZL COMP.3 C4
17.	TZL COMP.4 C4

## RESULTS

### Character Association

~~The phenotypic and genotypic correlation coefficients for eleven yield and yield contributing characters in 17 maize varieties is presented in Table 2.~~ Phenotypic correlation coefficients ( $r_p$ ) [Table 2](#) revealed that number of plants per plot (0.451), number of plants harvested (0.539), number of ears harvested (0.581) and field weight (0.999) correlated significantly and positively with grain yield. Number of plants per plot showed significant and positive  $r_p$  with number of plants harvested (0.976), number of ears harvested (0.937) and field weight (0.440), however, it correlated negatively and significantly with moisture content (-0.285). Days to 50% silking correlated positively and significantly with days to 50% anthesis (0.824) and plant height (0.318). Days to 50% anthesis on the other hand correlated positively and significantly with plant height (0.330) but negatively with anthesis-silking interval (-0.446) and number of ears harvested (-0.294). Plant height had a positive  $r_p$  with ear height (0.840) while number of plants harvested correlated positively and significantly with number of ears harvested (0.967) and field weight (0.530). Similarly, number of ears harvested had significant positive  $r_p$  with field weight (0.573).

~~For the genotypic correlation coefficients ( $r_g$ ), more characters were found to have high correlation coefficients at this level than at the phenotypic level. Genotypic correlation coefficients ( $r_g$ ) [Table 2](#) revealed that ~~Similar to results obtained for phenotypic correlation,~~ number of plants per plot (0.409), number of plants harvested (0.513), number of ears harvested (0.581) and field weight (0.999) correlated positively and significantly with grain yield. Days to 50% anthesis (-0.280) and moisture~~

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

content (-0.285) correlated significantly but negatively with number of plants per plot while number of plants harvested (0.987), number of ears harvested (0.960) and field weight (0.398) had significant positive  $r_g$  with number of plants per plot. Days to 50% silking correlated significantly and positively with days to 50% anthesis (0.781), plant height (0.548) and ear height (0.418). Days to 50% anthesis on the other hand had significant positive  $r_g$  with plant height (0.548) and ear height (0.411) while negatively correlating with anthesis-silking interval (-0.515), number of plants harvested (-0.331) and number of ears harvested (-0.356). Moisture content had significant negative  $r_g$  with anthesis-silking interval. Plant height and ear height as well as number of plants harvested and number of ears harvested correlated significantly and positively. Also, field weight had a significant and positive  $r_g$  with both number of plants harvested and number of ears harvested.

#### **Path coefficient analysis between grain yield and yield related characters**

The genotypic correlation was used to estimate the direct and indirect effect of yield and yield contributing characters (Table 3). The path analysis depicted the strength of contributions of all independent variables under study on grain yield. Results revealed that number of plants per plot, days to 50% anthesis, anthesis-silking interval, plant height, number of ears harvested and field weight all had positive direct effect on grain yield (0.590, 0.807, 0.565, 0.199, 0.287 and 1.085), respectively. Field weight (1.085) had the highest positive direct effect on grain yield, followed by days to 50% anthesis (0.807) and number of plants per plot (0.590). The results also showed that days to 50% silking and ear height exerted indirect effect on yield through days to 50% anthesis, while moisture content exerted indirect effect on yield through number of plants harvested.

**Table 2: Phenotypic ( $r_p$ ) and Genotypic ( $r_g$ ) Correlation ( $r_g$ ) for yield and yield contributing Characters measured in Seventeen Maize Varieties**

Characters	Correlation	Days to 50% silking	Days to 50% anthesis	Anthesis-silking interval	Plant height (cm)	Ear height (cm)	Number of plants harvested	Number of ears harvested	Field weight (kg)	Moisture content (%)	Grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
Number of plants per plot	rp	-0.248	-0.248	0.043	-0.179	0.023	0.976**	0.937**	0.440**	-0.285*	0.451**
	rg	-0.258	-0.280*	0.085	-0.235	-0.023	0.987**	0.960**	0.398**	-0.416**	0.409**
Days to 50% silking	rp		0.824**	0.140	0.318*	0.226	-0.218	-0.214	0.122	0.038	0.121
	rg		0.781**	0.131	0.548**	0.418**	-0.261	-0.262	0.231	-0.060	0.238
Days to 50% anthesis	rp			-0.446**	0.330*	0.244	-0.269	-0.294*	0.116	0.140	0.109
	rg			-0.515**	0.548**	0.411**	-0.331*	-0.356**	0.213	0.139	0.209
Anthesis-silking interval	rp				-0.076	-0.069	0.126	0.175	-0.011	-0.184	0.001
	rg				-0.124	-0.079	0.160	0.203	-0.026	-0.286*	-0.007
Plant height (cm)	rp					0.840**	-0.141	-0.121	0.123	0.037	0.123
	rg					0.857**	-0.191	-0.156	0.117	0.067	0.115
Ear height (cm)	rp						0.041	0.115	0.162	-0.180	0.172
	rg						-0.001	0.097	0.149	-0.215	0.157
Number of plants harvested	rp							0.967**	0.530**	-0.224	0.539**
	rg							0.983**	0.503**	-0.340*	0.513**
Number of ears harvested	rp								0.573**	-0.188	0.581**
	rg								0.549**	-0.268	0.557**
Field weight (kg)	rp									0.044	0.999**
	rg									-0.008	0.999**
Moisture content (%)	rp										-0.005
	rg										-0.048

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted Table

Change  $r_c$  and  $r_o$  everywhere and write the characters in proper manner

Formatted: Subscript

Formatted: Subscript

UNDER PEER REVIEW

**Table 3: Direct (diagonal bold) and Indirect indirect Effects effects (off diagonal) of 11 Characters characters on Grain grain Yield yield in 17 Maize maize Varieties-varieties at Genotypic-genotypic Levellevel**

Characters	Number of plants per plot	Days to 50% silking	Days to 50% anthesis	Anthesis-silking interval	Plant height (cm)	Ear height (cm)	Number of plants harvested	Number of ears harvested	Field weight (kg)	Moisture content (%)	Correlation coefficient of grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
Number of plants per plot	<b>0.590</b>	0.198	-0.226	0.048	-0.047	0.004	-0.896	0.276	0.432	0.030	0.409**
Days to 50% silking	-0.152	<b>-0.768</b>	0.631	0.074	0.109	-0.072	0.237	-0.075	0.251	0.004	0.238
Days to 50% anthesis	-0.165	-0.600	<b>0.807</b>	-0.291	0.109	-0.071	0.300	-0.102	0.231	-0.010	0.209
Anthesis-silking interval	0.050	-0.101	-0.416	<b>0.565</b>	-0.025	0.014	-0.145	0.058	-0.028	0.021	-0.007
Plant height (cm)	-0.139	-0.421	0.442	-0.070	<b>0.199</b>	-0.148	0.173	-0.045	0.127	-0.005	0.115
Ear height (cm)	-0.014	-0.321	0.332	-0.045	0.171	<b>-0.172</b>	0.001	0.028	0.162	0.016	0.157
Number of plants harvested	0.582	0.201	-0.267	0.090	-0.038	0.000	<b>-0.908</b>	0.282	0.546	0.025	0.513**
Number of ears harvested	0.566	0.201	-0.287	0.115	-0.031	-0.017	-0.892	<b>0.287</b>	0.596	0.020	0.557**
Field weight (kg)	0.235	-0.177	0.172	-0.015	0.023	-0.026	-0.457	0.158	<b>1.085</b>	0.001	0.999**
Moisture content (%)	-0.245	0.046	0.112	-0.162	0.013	0.037	0.309	-0.077	-0.009	<b>-0.073</b>	-0.048

Residual ~~Effect~~effect: 0.001

[Also arrange this table properly.](#)

Formatted Table

Formatted: Space After: 8 pt

Formatted: Space After: 8 pt

## DISCUSSION

The knowledge of correlation between characters of economic importance are not only of interest from theoretical consideration of quantitative inheritance of characters, but of practical value since selection is usually concerned with changing two or more characters simultaneously (Prasuna, 2012). Yield being polygenic and quantitative in nature is governed by a large number of genes. The influence of each character on yield could be known through correlation studies with a view to determining the extent and nature of relationships prevailing among yield and yield attributing characters. Correlation coefficient helps in determining the direction of selection and number of characters to be considered in improving grain yield. From this study, grain yield showed positive and significant correlation with number of plants per plot, number of plants harvested, number of ears harvested and field weight at both phenotypic and genotypic levels, indicating that selection for these characters may be important in improving grain yield. This is similar to the findings of Olawamide and Fayeun (2020). Significant positive correlation was observed between days to 50% anthesis and days to 50% silking, as well as between ear height with plant height (Troyer and Larkins, 1985; Selvaraj and Nagarajan, 2011; Dar *et al.*, 2016). Similarly, plant height correlated significantly and positively with days to 50% silking and days to 50% anthesis (Selvaraj and Nagarajan, 2011), number of ears harvested with number of plants per plot, field weight with number of plants per plot, and number of plants harvested with number of ears harvested (Olawamide and Fayeun, 2020). This suggests that improvement of one character will automatically lead to improvement of the other simultaneously. On the other hand, negative significant correlation was observed between anthesis-silking interval and days to 50% anthesis (Ngugi *et al.*, 2013) and between numbers of ears harvested and days to 50% anthesis, suggesting that selection of anthesis-silking interval for a good number of ears harvested will negatively affect days to 50% anthesis.

Path coefficient analysis measures the direct influence of one variable upon the other and permits separation of correlation coefficients into components of direct and indirect effects (Dewey and Lu, 1959). Partitioning of total correlation into direct and indirect effects provides actual information on contribution of characters and thus forms the basis for selection to improve yield. Hence, genotypic correlations were partitioned into direct and indirect effects to know the relative importance of the components. **Result-Results** revealed **that** number of plants per plot, days to 50% anthesis, anthesis-silking interval, plant height, numbers of ears harvested and field weight all had positive direct effect on grain yield, showing the importance of these characters (particularly field weight, which had the highest positive direct effect and almost perfect correlation with grain yield) to **improving** grain yield. Similar result has been reported by Sesay *et al.* (2017). In this study, it is inferred from correlation and path analysis that field weight is the most important character influencing grain yield. Thus, selection for field weight is a pre-requisite to attaining higher grain yield in maize. Next to it is number of plants per plot and number of ears harvested which both showed high positive direct effect as well as high correlation with grain yield. **This points to the fact that ensuring an optimum plant density per plot is vital to increasing grain yield (Olawamide and Fayeun, 2020).**



## CONCLUSION

Number of plants per plot, number of plants harvested, number of ears harvested and field weight could be used as selection criteria in maize yield improvement because they showed positive phenotypic and genotypic correlation with grain yield. Furthermore, the high positive direct effect exerted by field weight, number of plants per plot and number of ears harvested shows the true relationship of these characters with grain yield. Consequently, selection for these characters could lead to indirect selection for grain yield.

## REFERENCES

- Adesoji, A. G., Abubakar, I. U. & Labe, D.A. (2015). Character Association and Path Coefficient Analysis of Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Grown under Incorporated Legumes and Nitrogen. *Journal of Agronomy*, 14, 158–163.
- Baretta, D., Nardino, M., Carvalho, I. R., de Oliveira, A. C., de Souza, V. Q. & da Maia, L. C. (2016). Performance of maize genotypes of Rio Grande do Sul using mixed models. *Cientifica*, 44, 403-411.
- Dar, Z. A., Lone, A. A., Gazal, A., Alaie, B. A., Gulzar, S. & Yousuf, N. (2016). Correlation studies in temperate maize (*Zea mays* L.) inbred lines. *New Agriculturist*, 27(2), 407-410.
- Dewey, D. R. & Lu, K. H. (1959). A correlation and path-coefficient analysis of components of crested wheat grass seed production. *Agronomy Journal*. 51, 515-518.
- FAOSTAT (2018). "Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nation". FAOSTAT Database. Assessed March 15, 2020. <http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC>
- Hallauer A. R. (2007). History, Contribution, and Future of Quantitative Genetics in Plant Breeding: Lessons from Maize. *Crop Science*. 47, S4–S19.
- IAR&T - Institute of Agricultural Research and Training (2010). Farmers' Guide Series 1. No 4: Guide on Maize Production. Obafemi Awolowo University, Ibadan, 7.
- Jadhav, N. H., Kashid, D. N. & Kulkarni, S. R. (2014). Subset selection in multiple linear regression in the presence of outlier and multicollinearity. *Statistical Methodology*, 19, 44–59.
- Jakhar, D. S., Singh, R. & Kumar, A. (2017). Studies on Path Coefficient Analysis in Maize (*Zea mays* L.) for Grain Yield and Its Attributes. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*. 6, 2851-2856.
- Ma, Z., Qin, Y., Wang, Y., Zhao, X., Zhang, F., Tang, J. & Fu, Z. (2015). Proteomic analysis of silk viability in maize inbred lines and their corresponding hybrids. *PLoS One* 10: e0144050.
- Nardino, M., de Souza, V. Q., Baretta, D., Konflanz, V. A., Carvalho, I. R., Follmann, D. N. & Caron, B. O. (2016). Association of secondary traits with yield in maize F1's. *Ciência Rural*, 46: 776-782
- Ngugi, K., Cheserek, J., Muchira, C. & Chemining'wa, G. (2013). Anthesis to Silking Interval Usefulness in Developing Drought Tolerant Maize. *Journal of Renewable Agriculture*, 1(5), 84-90.
- Ojo, D. K., Omikunle, O. A., Oduwaye, O. A., Ajala, M. O. & Ogunbayo, S. A. (2006). Heritability, character correlation and path coefficient analysis among six inbred-lines of maize (*Zea mays* L.). *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 2, 352–358.

Olawamide, D. O. & Fayeun, L. S. (2020). Correlation and Path Coefficient Analysis for Yield and Yield Components in Late Maturing Pro-vitamin A Synthetic Maize (*Zea mays* L.) Breeding Lines. *Journal of Experimental Agriculture International*, 49(1), 64-72.

Olivoto, T., Nardino, M., Carvalho, I. R., Follmann, D. N., Szareski, V. J., Ferrari, M., de Pelegrin, A. J. & de Souza, V. Q. (2016). Pearson Correlation Coefficients and Accuracy of Path Analysis used in Maize Breeding: A Critical Review. *International Journal of Current Research*, 8(9), 37787-37795.

Prasuna, R. C. (2012). "Studies on Heterosis and Combining Ability for Yield Components in grain sorghum (*Sorghum Bicolor* L. Moench)". MSc thesis, Crop Science Dept., Acharya N.G. Ranga Agricultural University. Rajendranagar, Hyderabad – 500 030, 140.

R Core Team. (2014). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL: <https://www.R-project.org/>.

Formatted: Font color: Red

Formatted: No underline, Font color: Red

Formatted: Font color: Red

Selvaraj, C. I. & Nagarajan, P. (2011). Interrelationship and path-coefficient studies for qualitative traits, grain yield and other yield attributes among maize (*Zea mays* L.). *International Journal of Plant Breeding and Genetics*. 5(3), 209-223.

Sesay, S., Ojo, D. K., Ariyo, O. J., Meseka, S., Fayeun, L. S., Omikunle, A. O. & Oyetunde, A. O. (2017). Correlation and path coefficient analysis of top-cross and three-way cross hybrid maize populations. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. 12(10), 780-789.

Troyer, A. F. & Larkins, J. R. (1985). Selection for early flowering in corn: 10 late synthetics. *Crop Science*, 25, 695-697.

Wright, S. (1921). Correlation and causation. *Journal of Agricultural Research*, 20, 557–585.

UNDER PEER REVIEW